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Financial
Summary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 203,466 300,142 262,522 311,191 394,196
Cost of sales (184,646) (268,715) (219,405) (259,026) (293,338)     

Gross profit 18,820 31,427 43,117 52,165 100,858
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 19,369 – – –
Other net income/(loss) 2,289 (6,338) 10,277 36,572 2,340
Selling and distribution expenses (16,187) (23,824) (28,643) (41,057) (37,305)
Administrative expenses (61,483) (75,706) (95,704) (34,204) (50,948)
Impairment loss on goodwill – (48,387) – – –     

(Loss)/profit from operation (56,561) (103,459) (70,953) 13,476 14,945
Finance costs (2,679) (2,333) (2,517) (3,179) (2,663)     

(Loss)/profit before taxation (59,240) (105,792) (73,470) 10,297 12,282
Income tax credit/(expense) 35 314 (719) (1,123) (1,712)     

(Loss)/profit for the year (59,205) (105,478) (74,189) 9,174 10,570
     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 148,495 137,814 285,530 357,245 341,881

Current assets 145,856 190,199 197,370 278,725 301,158

Current liabilities 129,181 115,827 148,342 219,021 246,435

Net current assets 16,675 74,372 49,028 59,704 54,723

Total assets less current liabilities 165,170 212,186 334,558 416,949 396,604

Non-current liabilities 12,192 468 – – –

Net assets 152,978 211,718 334,558 416,949 396,604

Total equity attributable to equity
 shareholders of the Company 152,978 211,718 334,558 416,949 396,604
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Chairman’s
Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors (the “Directors”) of Hing Lee (HK) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (the 
“Board”), I herein present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 (“Year 2020”).

Against the backdrop of constant conflicts between China and the United States over trade and technology 
issues, as well as the outbreak of Coronavirus disease (“COVID-19 Outbreak”) which affected global economic 
development and activities, most enterprises faced an unprecedented operating environment during the Year 
2020. In such an environment, most industries are under downward pressure, of which the furniture manufacturing 
industry was not immuned, where business plans of our domestic and overseas partners have been affected.

The Group recorded a year-on-year decrease in turnover for the year ended 31 December 2020 of 32.2% to 
HKD203.5 million (31 December 2019: HKD300.1 million). However, the Group’s loss for the year narrowed 
from a net loss of HKD105.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to a net loss of HKD59.2 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Our domestic business was affected by the COVID-19 Outbreak in Year 2020. Many customers and suppliers 
were in a state of semi-standstill or even closed down in the first half of Year 2020, resulting in an impact on 
the Group’s operations with a number of projects encountering delays and order cancellations as well as quoted 
price adjustments during the second half of the Year 2020.

As for our overseas businesses, they were also affected by the COVID-19 Outbreak. The Group’s sales staff 
were unable to visit overseas customers to discuss with them business opportunities and project feasibility due to 
the border control measures between countries. In addition, the economies of various countries around the world 
were affected to varying degrees. Nonetheless, the Group remains proactive in liaising with its customers through 
the Internet (i.e. video conferencing etc.) and has maintained its overseas businesses.

Under the impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak, enterprises are facing a severe test of survival and development. 
In such circumstances, the Group has been continuously assessing the current business strategy, with an aim to 
streamline its business and enhance overall performance and prospects. As a result of the Group’s effort, the 
Group managed a design and promotional project by providing professional services such as layout design, 
fitting and display of products.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all staff members for their 
dedication and contribution, and to our shareholders and business partners for their support. We will continue 
with our endeavor to pursue growth of our business and create value for our shareholders.

Yours faithfully,

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Sung Kai Hing

25 March 2021
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group was affected by the outbreak of coronavirus disease (“COVID-19 
Outbreak”), our domestic market relies on our domestic distributors to market our furniture products to end-users in 
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Most of our distributors are individuals who operate in the form of sole 
proprietorship and many customers and suppliers were in a state of semi-standstill or even closed down in the 
first half of Year 2020. For our export market, the Sino-US trade friction posted further challenges in overseas 
economies and related activities, resulting in delays in product shipment schedules, cancelled projects and 
reduced quoted prices.

In the second half of Year 2020, the tenancy agreement of the factory for upholstered furniture expired. The 
factory was reallocated to Ping Shan, Shenzhen where the operation costs were lowered. The reallocation will 
enable our upholstered furniture line to remain competitive, thus securing our position. In addition, as a result of 
the COVID-19 Outbreak, customers select their items through video conferencing with the help of virtual graphics, 
with the majority of overseas customers going further by requesting the delivery of selected items to their agents 
for final decision-making. This reduced the need for having a big showroom. The Group hence combined all 
showrooms in Kengzi Town, Shenzhen to upholstered furniture factory for operation and cost effective purposes.

In the past few years, the Group has been continuously assessing its business strategy, with the aim to streamline 
its business and enhance overall performance and prospects. The Group has also taken several measures 
including (i) making use of video conferencing software to follow up with customers; (ii) cooperating with new 
business partners for the expansion of our product base; (iii) seeking new business opportunities by utilizing the 
existing resources of the Group, in particular, our strong design, promotion and brand development capabilities; 
and (iv) maintaining an efficient and lean cost structure with stringent control on fixed costs.

As a result of the Group’s effort, the Group managed a design and promotional project by providing professional 
services such as layout design as well as fitting and display of products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue decreased by approximately 32.2% from about HK$300.1 million for the year ended 31 
December 2019 to HK$203.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The decrease in the Group’s turnover was a result of the impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak since the beginning 
of Year 2020, which has caused disruptions to the businesses operation of the Group, as well as our customers. 
Our business, in particular the domestic market, was adversely affected in all levels. For export markets, shortage 
in shipping containers in the second half of Year 2020 was far beyond expectation. The Group experienced 
delays in shipment schedules as well as downward price pressure. In addition, the cautious slowdown in 
customers’ business due to the recent downturn of the economy has led to a decrease in demand for the Group’s 
products.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Gross Profit

During the year under review, due to the COVID-19 Outbreak, the production efficiency was reduced. In 
addition, some orders and projects were cancelled and discount were given to clear the inventories. The Group 
also outsourced a large portion of its production to other manufacturers. While this strategy helped the Group 
to reduce its administrative and fixed costs, it leaded to a lower gross profit margin as the purchase cost from 
outsider suppliers increased. As a result, the Group’s gross profit margin was decreased to 9.3% (2019: 10.9%).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses amounted to about HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31 
December 2020 (2019: HK$23.8 million). The decrease in selling and distribution expenses was mainly 
attributable to decrease in staff costs and transportation costs.

Administrative Expenses

During the year under review, the Group had specifically written off the trade receivables of approximately 
HK$2,578,000 that related to Pier 1 Imports, Inc. (“Pier 1”), one of the Group’s major customers for upholstered 
furniture products. Pier 1 and its subsidiaries have commenced voluntary chapter 11 proceedings in the U.S. 
Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Virginia as disclosed in the announcement of the Company on 25 
February 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s administrative expenses were approximately HK$61.5 
million compared to about HK$75.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the decrease in the costs associated with 
restructuring the Group’s business units, less headcount and hence fixed costs, as well as the decrease in the 
foreign exchange loss arising from conversion of the foreign currencies to Hong Kong dollars, the functional 
currency of the Group.

Results for the Year

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately 
HK$59.2 million as compared to loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$105.5 
million for the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed approximately 160 employees (31 December 2019: 
approximately 300).

Salaries are reviewed annually and discretionary bonuses are paid on annual basis with reference to individual 
performance appraisals, inflation and prevailing market conditions. Other benefits available to eligible employees 
include retirement benefits and medical insurance schemes. Share options may also be granted to eligible 
employees of the Group and other eligible participants.

Apart from regular on-the-job training, the Group also engages professional parties to provide training to its staff 
to ensure that they can obtain updated job related knowledge and enhance their quality of work.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s overall funding and treasury activities are currently managed and controlled by the senior 
management. There is no significant change in respect of treasury and financing policies from those of last year.

The Group maintained cash and bank balances of HK$70.4 million as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 
2019: HK$59.7 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had bank loans amounting to HK$69.8 million (31 December 2019: 
HK$34.5 million). As at the same date, the gearing ratio (total debt/total equity) was 0.9 (31 December 2019: 
0.5).

As at 31 December 2020, the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was 1.1 (31 December 2019: 1.6) 
and the net current assets amounted to HK$16.7 million (31 December 2019: HK$74.4 million).

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable and the maturity profiles of bank loans are set out in the 
notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment Information is set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by its continuous efforts in promoting green 
measures and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group encourages environmental protection and 
promotes awareness towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group adheres to the principle of 
Recycling and Reducing. It implements green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying, setting 
up recycling bins, promoting the use of recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle 
lightings and electrical appliance.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will consider implementing further eco-
friendly measures and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses to move towards adhering the 3Rs – 
Reduce, Recycle and Reuse and enhance environmental sustainability.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental, 
social and governance report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 to be published in due 
course.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the 
Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) . The Group’s operations 
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report, to the best of knowledge of the 
Company, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong 
which have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group, and there was no material breach 
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the 
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognizes that employees are its valuable assets. Thus the Group provides competitive 
remuneration package to attract and motivate its employees. Apart from salary payments, there are other staff 
benefits including mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and performance related bonus. Share options 
may also be granted to eligible employees of the Group. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package 
of employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners and 
bank enterprises to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, the senior management of the Group kept good 
communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them when appropriate. During the 
Year 2020, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its business partners or bank 
enterprises.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be affected by a number 
of risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The followings are the key 
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. The list below is not exhaustive and there may be other risks 
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may not be 
material now but could turn out to be material in the future. Besides, this annual report does not constitute a 
recommendation or an advice for anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are advised to 
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before making any investment in the securities 
of the Company.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates the Group’s profitability or affects the Group’s ability to meet business 
objectives and it arises from the movement in market prices, like foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices. The management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures 
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in 
a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise 
to this risk are primarily Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and United States dollar. As most of the transactions are 
denominated and settled in the same currency, the Group’s foreign currency risk is considered to be minimal by 
the Directors at the reporting date. The Group does not hold or issue material derivative financial instruments for 
trading purposes or for hedging against fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, but the management continuously 
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 
need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from bank deposits and bank loans which are at variable rates, which expose 
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk, and the Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis 
and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate through a variety of means.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations when they fall due because of 
an inability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash 
flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s 
operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional 
and departmental levels. Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits of 
authority and reporting framework. The senior management of the Group identifies and assesses key operational 
exposures regularly so that appropriate risk response can be taken. However, accidents may happen despite 
systems and procedures were set up for their prevention, which may lead to financial loss, litigation or damage 
in reputation.

Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of losses relative to the expected return on any 
particular investment. Key concern of investment framework will be balancing risk and return across different 
investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision process.

Manpower and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and 
required skills, experience and competence which would meet the business objectives of the Group. The Group 
will provide attractive remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel based on factors such as market 
rates, responsibility, job complexity as well as the Group’s performance. The Group has also adopted share option 
scheme to recognize and reward the contribution of the employees for the growth and development of the Group.

Business Risk

Performance of our Group’s core business will be affected by various factors, including but not limited to 
economic conditions, performance of property markets in regions where its customers locate, which would not be 
mitigated even with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict procedure.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had banking facilities which were secured by (i) pledge of buildings; (ii) 
personal guarantee provided by Mr. Chan Kwok Kin and Mr. Huang Wei Ye, both are members of the senior 
management of the Group; and (iii) corporate guarantees from the Company and a subsidiary.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There were no significant investment, material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries by the Group during the 
year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2020, the Company had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees given for banking 
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries to the extent of HK$95,053,000 (2019: HK$89,000,000). These 
facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$29,704,000 (2019: HK$5,520,000) as at 31 December 2020.

PROSPECTS

As the development of the COVID-19 Outbreak remains to be highly unpredictable, the extent of its impact on 
the economy of China and the world is uncertain.

Also, US-Sino trade war has compounded the uncertainties we face, introducing additional layers of dynamics 
and stochastic events. The industry in which the Group operates is directly or indirectly affected. Besides, 
various travel restrictions and lockdown measures remain enacted as a result of the pandemic, which impede our 
marketing and promotional works, resulting in a slowdown of our products development. The management is of 
the view that the overall tough business environment may persist for some time.

The Group has proactively responded and conducted corporate restructuring activities to rebalance our business 
focus. We have expanded our business into a design and promotional project by providing professional services 
such as layout design as well as fitting and display of products during the year. We believe entering into the 
design and promotional project could achieve synergy with the Group’s existing business which enables the 
Group to access to additional income and cash flow stream to the Group while further diversifying the Group’s 
overall business to confront the volatile economic condition and environment.
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Corporate Governance
Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors” and each a “Director”) recognize the importance of incorporating 
elements of good corporate governance in the management structures and internal control procedures of the 
Group so as to achieve effective accountability. The Directors continuously observe the principles of good 
corporate governance in the interests of shareholders and devote considerable effort to identifying and 
formalizing best practice.

Save as disclosed below, the Company complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code 
(the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange during the financial year. The Company periodically reviews 
its corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous compliance.

Code provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and 
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Sung Kai Hing is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the 
same individual provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development and execution of 
long-term business strategies.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in 
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the required standard for securities transactions by Directors. 
The Company has made specific enquiries of all Directors and all Directors have confirmed that they have 
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’ 
securities transactions during the year under review.
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Corporate Governance
Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board members of the Company currently are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Sung Kai Hing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sun Jian
Ms. Shao Hanqing
Mr. Kong Hing Ki

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are disclosed in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 24 to 26 in this annual report.

The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive 
corporate and strategic planning experiences that may contribute to the business of the Group. Upon reviewing 
(i) the directorships and major commitments of each Director; and (ii) the attendance rate of each Director at the 
meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in 
performing their responsibilities during 2020.

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules during the 
year under review. All independent non-executive Directors also meet the guidelines for assessment of their 
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Functions of the Board

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the Company. The Board’s primary duty is to 
ensure the viability of the Company and to ensure that it is managed in the best interests of the shareholders as a 
whole while taking into account the interests of other stakeholders.

The Group has adopted internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s approval. Apart from 
its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, key operational initiatives, major 
investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s financial performance, identifies principal risks of 
the Group’s business and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks. Daily business 
operations and administrative functions of the Group are delegated to the management.
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Corporate Governance
Report

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The 
Board will meet to develop, review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, 
to review and monitor training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management, to 
review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, 
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and 
Directors and to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in the corporate 
governance report.

During the year of 2020, in relation to the corporate governance functions, the Board has reviewed the 
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the regulatory and statutory requirements, and the disclosure in 
the corporate governance report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy effective on 16 May 2014. The 
Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge 
and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered 
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, 
age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional experience, skills, 
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected 
candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 5 Directors. Among which, one of them is a woman and 
three of them are independent non-executive Directors. The Directors are of diverse educational background 
and possess a wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business experience. The Board is of significant 
diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, professional and educational background and skills.

BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES

The Board met four times during the year ended 31 December 2020. The attendance record of each Director at 
these regular board meetings is set out in the following table:

Directors Board Meetings
Held Attended

Mr. Sung Kai Hing 4 4
Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung 4 4
Mr. Sun Jian 4 4
Ms. Shao Hanqing 4 4
Mr. Kong Hing Ki 4 4
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Corporate Governance
Report

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties 
properly. In compliance with code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, at least 14 days’ notice have been given 
for a regular Board meeting to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Notice, agenda and board papers 
of regular Board meetings were sent to all Directors within reasonable time and at least 3 days prior to the 
meetings. Directors were free to contribute and share their views at meetings and major decisions would only be 
taken after deliberation at Board meetings. Directors who were considered having conflict of interests or material 
interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting 
and would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution. Sufficient resources are provided including those for 
seeking independent professional advice to enable Directors to discharge their duties and responsibilities. Full 
minutes were prepared after the meetings and the draft minutes were sent to all Directors for their comment, the 
final version of which were endorsed in the subsequent Board meeting.

All independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a fixed term as disclosed in the sub-section 
“Directors” in the section headed “Directors’ Report” in this annual report. Every Director is subject to re-election 
on retirement by rotation in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and it still considers the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Directors 
are committed to complying with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on requirements of Directors’ training. 
All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and provided a record of training they 
received for the financial year ended 31 December, 2020 to the Company.

According to the records provided by the Directors, the training received by each of the Directors during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 is summarized as follows:

Type of continuous professional 
Directors development training

Executive Directors
Mr. Sung Kai Hing A,B
Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung A,B

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Sun Jian A,B
Ms. Shao Hanqing A,B
Mr. Kong Hing Ki A,B

Notes:

A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities, 
the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements etc.
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Corporate Governance
Report

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established specific committees, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference to assist them in the efficient implementation of their 
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above committees.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which are in compliance with the 
code provisions of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the 
financial reporting process and internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee currently has three 
members comprising Mr. Kong Hing Ki (Chairman), Mr. Sun Jian and Ms. Shao Hanqing, all being independent 
non-executive Directors.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had held 2 meetings, the attendance of the members is set 
out below:

Directors Meetings of the
Audit Committee

Held Attended

Mr. Sun Jian 2 2
Ms. Shao Hanqing 2 2
Mr. Kong Hing Ki (Chairman) 2 2

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and the annual 
and interim results of the Group as well as assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk 
management system. The Audit Committee reported that there was no material uncertainty that casts doubt on the 
Company’s going concern ability.



17HING LEE (HK) HOLDINGS LIMITED   •   ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Corporate Governance
Report

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference which are in compliance 
with the code provisions of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the 
Board on, among other matters, the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and the 
senior management of the Group and are delegated by the Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the 
Board the remuneration for Directors and senior management of the Group. The Remuneration Committee consists 
of three members, namely, Mr. Sun Jian (Chairman), Ms. Shao Hanqing and Mr. Kong Hing Ki, all being 
independent non-executive Directors.

According to the written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which can be viewed on the website 
of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange, the Remuneration Committee has adopted the model to 
determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Director(s) and senior 
management.

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their respective experience, responsibilities 
with the Group and general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus is linked to the performance of the Group 
and of the individual Director.

One meeting was held during the year ended 31 December 2020 to review the remuneration and incentive 
package of the senior management. Attendance of the members is set out below:

Directors Meetings of the
Remuneration Committee

Held Attended

Mr. Sun Jian (Chairman) 1 1
Ms. Shao Hanqing 1 1
Mr. Kong Hing Ki 1 1

Details of the remuneration of each Director for 2020 are set out in the Note 7 to the consolidated financial 
statements in this annual report.

The biographies of members of the senior management team at the date of this annual report are disclosed in the 
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.



18 HING LEE (HK) HOLDINGS LIMITED   •   ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Corporate Governance
Report

Remuneration by Bands

The remuneration paid or payable to the Directors and senior management during the year were fell within the 
following bands:

2020 2019

Number of 
Directors

Number 
of senior 

management
Number of 

Directors

Number 
of senior 

management

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 4 3 4
HK$1,000,001 – HK$2,000,000 2 – 2 –
HK$2,000,001 – HK$3,000,000 – – – –
HK$3,000,001 – HK$4,000,000 – – – –

Ms. Shao Hanqing has waived her director’s fee for the reporting period. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 
December 2020, there was no arrangement in which the Directors waived their remuneration.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference which are in compliance with 
the code provisions of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board 
on appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee consists of five 
members, namely, Ms. Shao Hanqing (Chairman), Mr. Sung Kai Hing, Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung, Mr. Sun Jian 
and Mr. Kong Hing Ki, comprising of 2 executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

The main duty of the Committee is (i) to review and monitor the structure, size and composition (including the 
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) to identify 
and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when 
they arise; (iii) to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment 
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer; 
(iv) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (v) to report back to the Board on 
decisions or recommendations made, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions to do so.

The Committee discharges its responsibilities by reference to the terms of reference which set out their roles, 
responsibilities and duties. The terms of reference were duly authorized by the Board.

In Year 2020, the Committee had reviewed and discussed the following issues at its meeting:
1. to review the composition and structure of Board of Directors of the Company.
2. to review the scope of responsibilities of directors of the Company.
3. to review and confirm the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.
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In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board, 
the Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to the board diversity policy of the Company as 
summarized at page 14.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy for the Nomination Committee, which sets out the criteria and 
procedures in identifying and selecting candidates for directorship and making recommendations to the Board on 
appointment and re-appointment of Director. In the case of identifying candidate(s) to be appointed as Director, 
the Nomination Committee shall hold a meeting to consider the candidate(s) identified or selected pursuant to 
the nomination criteria and make recommendations to the Board if appropriate. In the case of re-appointment 
of existing Director, the Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution and services of the retiring 
Director, their participation and performance within the Board in making recommendations to the Board for its 
consideration and recommendation. The factors considered in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate 
for appointment as Director or re-appointment of existing Director are as follows:

– Contribution to the Board with due regard to the Board’s diversity policy;
– The perspectives, skills and experience that the candidate can bring to the Board;
– Reputation for integrity;
– Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member; and
– Satisfaction of independence requirements of the Listing Rules in the case of a candidate for independent 

non-executive Directors.

One meeting was held during the year ended 31 December 2020 for reviewing the structure, size and 
composition of the Board. Attendance of the members is set out below:

Directors Meetings of the
Nomination Committee

Held Attended

Ms. Shao Hanqing (Chairman) 1 1
Mr. Sung Kai Hing 1 1
Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung 1 1
Mr. Sun Jian 1 1
Mr. Kong Hing Ki 1 1
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility for the Accounts

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in Hong Kong.

The statement by the auditors of the Company about their responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in 
the report of the independent auditor’s report contained in this annual report. There are no material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”) as its external auditors for year ended 
31 December 2020. For the year ended 31 December 2020, remuneration payable to the Company’s auditor, 
Baker Tilly, for the provision of audit services was HK$750,000. During the year, there was no payable as 
remuneration to Baker Tilly for the provision of non-audit related services.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The compliance and internal audit department, which is independent to the Company’s daily operations and 
accounting functions, is responsible for establishing the Group’s internal control framework, covering all material 
controls including financial, operational and compliance controls.

The compliance and internal audit department also formulates the internal audit plan and procedures, conducts 
periodic independent reviews on the operations of individual divisions to identify any irregularities and risks, 
develops action plans and recommendations to address the identified risks, and reports to the management on 
any key findings and progress of the internal audit process.

The Audit Committee which comprises all the independent non-executive Directors has the duties to, among other 
things, review the internal control systems and procedures for compliance with the relevant accounting, financial 
and Listing Rules requirements.

In addition, the executive Directors have attended external continuous training sessions relating to corporate 
governance to further enhance their knowledge on various on-going obligations and duties of a listed issuer and 
its directors under the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

The external auditor, in the course of their audit, obtained an understanding of internal controls relevant to the 
Group’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. Any significant deficiencies noted during the course of the audit 
in such internal controls relevant to audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements will be reported to 
the Audit Committee at least once a year. After due and careful inquiries, the Audit Committee and the Board 
considered the policies and procedures of internal control covering all material controls including financial, 
operational and compliance controls and risk management system are effective and adequate and will conduct 
ongoing review on the effectiveness of the system. The Audit Committee also considered, after due and careful 
inquiries, that the Company has complied with the internal control system and the relevant accounting, financial 
and Listing Rules requirements.
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The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The 
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls 
within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, 
the Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree 
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would 
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained 
in announcements or circulars are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the 
omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal 
disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication between the shareholders and the 
Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairman of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee 
and Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, other members of the respective committees, are available to 
answer questions at the shareholders’ meetings.

The Company held one general meeting, being the annual general meeting, in 2020. The attendance record of 
the Directors at such meeting is set out below:

Directors Attendance

Executive Directors
Mr. Sung Kai Hing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 1
Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung 1

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Sun Jian 1
Ms. Shao Hanqing 1
Mr. Kong Hing Ki 1

In order to keep shareholders well informed of the business activities and direction of the Group, information 
about the Group has also been provided to the shareholders through financial reports and announcements. The 
Company has established its own corporate website www.hingleehk.com.hk to facilitate effective communication 
with its shareholders and the public. The Company will continue to enhance communications and relationships 
with its shareholders and investors.
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Shareholders, investors and interested parties can make enquiries to the Company through the following means:

By e-mail: kevinwong@hingleehk.com.hk
Telephone number: (852) 2151-9600
By post: Unit 1101, 11/F, Delta House
 3 On Yiu Street
 Shatin, N.T.
 Hong Kong
Attention: Public Relationship

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Right to convene special general meeting

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less 
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary 
of the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit 
of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited 
at the registered office of the Company and at the Company’s head office and principal place of business 
in Hong Kong at Unit 1101, 11th Floor, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong 
Kong, and such request may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the 
requisitionist(s).

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon the 
confirmation of the branch share registrar that the request is in order, the company secretary of the 
Company will ask the Board to convene a special general meeting by serving sufficient notice in 
accordance with all relevant statutory and regulatory requirements to all registered members. On the 
contrary, if the request is verified as not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome and 
accordingly, a special general meeting will not be convened as requested.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the 
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, 
may themselves do so in accordance with the provisions of section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of 
Bermuda.
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(b) Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, either any number of the registered shareholders 
holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of 
voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered 
shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of 
the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be 
moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting 
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed 
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists 
must be deposited at the registered office of the Company and the Company’s head office and principal 
place of business in Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses 
and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or 
not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if, after a 
copy of the requisition notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered office of the Company, 
an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, 
the requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have been properly 
deposited for the purposes thereof.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures 
made available on the website of the Company at www.hingleehk.com.hk.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at shareholders’ 
meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at a shareholders’ meeting will be taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules 
save that the chairman of the shareholders’ meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which relates 
purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The chairman of the 
shareholders’ meeting will explain detailed procedures for conducting a poll answer any questions from 
shareholder regarding voting by way of poll. The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company after the shareholders’ meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Kit Wai is an employee of the Company and was appointed as the company secretary of the 
Company in May 2009. The biographical details of Mr. Wong are set out in the section headed “Biographical 
Details of Directors and Senior Management”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Wong has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year.

PUBLICATION OF AUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Company’s financial results announcement for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and this annual 
report are published on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkex.com.hk and on the Company’s website 
at www.hingleehk.com.hk.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Director

Mr. Sung Kai Hing (宋啟慶先生), aged 64, is an Executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company and one of the founders of the Group and he has over 20 years of experience in the 
furniture industry. Mr. Sung was appointed as a Director on 20 April 2004. He is primarily responsible for the 
overall strategic planning and business development of the Group as well as overseeing the daily operations 
of the Group. Besides, he is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and a member of the 
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Sung has been appointed as a part-time instructor with specialisation in business operation, strategic 

planning and supply chain management at 南京林業大學 (Nanjing Forestry University) and 中南林業科技大
學 (Central South University of Forestry and Technology) (formerly known as 中南林學院 (Central South Forestry 
University)) since June 2004 and November 2004 respectively.

Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung (張港璋先生), aged 59, is an Executive Director and one of the founders of 
the Group and he has over 20 years of experience in the furniture industry. Mr. Cheung was appointed as 
a Director on 20 April 2004. He is responsible for the administration and human resources management, as 
well as upholstered furniture business of the Group. Besides, he is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the 
Company and a member of the Nomination Committee. He has been appointed as a part-time instructor with 

specialisation in international trade and trading of home furniture at 南京林業大學 (Nanjing Forestry University) 
and 中南林業科技大學 (Central South University of Forestry and Technology) (formerly known as 中南林學院 
(Central South Forestry University)) since June 2004 and November 2004 respectively.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Sun Jian (孫堅先生), aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 July 
2007. He is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. He has over 20 years of experience in retail businesses and is a director and the chief 
executive officer of Home Inns & Hotel Management, Inc., a company which is principally engaged in the hotel 
industry with its shares listed on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System in 

the U.S.. Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’s degree in hygiene management from 上海醫科大學 (Shanghai Medical 
University) (subsequently renamed as 復旦大學上海醫學院 (Shanghai Medical College of Fudan University)) in 
July 1987. He is the vice president of 中國連鎖經營協會 (China Chain Store & Franchise Association).
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Ms. Shao Hanqing (邵漢青女士), aged 83, was appointed as an Independent non-executive Director on 
29 May 2009. She is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee. She is a part-time professor and a mentor to the doctorate candidates of the 

economics faculty of 中國人民大學 (Renmin University of China). Ms. Shao was elected as a fellow in the World 
Academy of Productivity Science by World Confederation of Productivity Science in 2006. Ms. Shao obtained a 

bachelor’s degree of national economic planning from 中國人民大學 (Renmin University of China) in 1964.

Mr. Kong Hing Ki (江興琪先生), aged 50, was appointed as an Independent non-executive Director on 29 
May 2009. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and 
the Nomination Committee. He has over 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and finance, gained 
from international accountancy and commercial firms. He is an independent non-executive director of RENHENG 
Enterprise Holdings Limited (stock code: 3628), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange. Mr. Kong holds a bachelor’s degree of commerce from Australian National University and 
a master of business administration degree from Deakin University. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of CPA Australia. 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Huang Wei Ye (黃偉業先生), aged 66, is one of the founders of the Group. He joined the Group in 
1995 and is the head of the Group’s design and development department, as well as the production department, 
and is responsible for overseeing the design, development and manufacture of the Group’s furniture products. 
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang has over 25 years of experience in the 
furniture industry. Mr. Huang has been appointed as a part-time instructor with specialisation in product design, 

production strategies and industry trend analysis at 南京林業大學 (Nanjing Forestry University) and 中南林業
科技大學 (Central South University of Forestry and Technology) (formerly known as 中南林學院 (Central South 
Forestry University)) since 2003. He obtained a master of business administration degree from 北京大學 (Peking 
University) in July 2007.

Mr. Chan Kwok Kin (陳國堅先生), aged 63, is one of the founders of the Group. Being the head of the 
sales and marketing department, as well as the procurement department of the Group, he is responsible for 
formulating the Group’s sales and marketing strategies and procurement policies and overseeing the Group’s 
sales and marketing activities. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chan has over 
20 years of experience in the furniture industry. He was appointed as a part-time instructor with specialisation in 

sales and marketing strategies and brand development at 南京林業大學 (Nanjing Forestry University) and 中南林
業科技大學 (Central South University of Forestry and Technology) (formerly known as 中南林學院 (Central South 
Forestry University)) since 2004.
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Mr. Pu Cai Jun (蒲采君先生), aged 58, is the financial controller of the PRC operation. He is responsible for 
all financial and accounting matters in respect of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Pu joined the Group 
in 2002 and has over 19 years of experience in financial controlling. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in 

accounting from 湖南財經學院 (Hunan Finance and Economics Institute) in July 1991.

Mr. Tse Kin Hung (謝建雄先生), aged 48, is the financial controller of the Group. He is responsible for the 
financial and accounting matters of the Group. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and a practising certificate holder of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. 
Tse has over 20 years of experience in finance, auditing and accounting. Prior to joining the Group in 2008, 
Mr. Tse worked for Moores Rowland, Pacific CMA, Inc. and Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd (stock code 1638), a 
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. In July 2015, Mr. Tse joined a 
public accountants firm as a director and worked as a consultant of the Group. In 2020, Mr. Tse took up the 
capacity as financial controller of the Group again. Mr. Tse graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University 
with a bachelor’s degree in business studies in 1996.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Kit Wai (黃杰偉先生), aged 51, is the chief financial officer and the company secretary of 
the Group. He is responsible for supervising the Group’s financial management and overseeing the company 
secretarial and compliance affairs of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group in January 2007 and has over 
20 years of experience in accounting and finance. He obtained a master of business administration degree from 
Deakin University, Australia and a bachelor of commerce degree from The University of New South Wales. He is 
a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia. 
Besides, Mr. Wong is an fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a fellow 
member of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators), the United Kingdom.
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The Board has pleasure in submitting their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) on 20 April 2004 and was re-domiciled and 
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 30 March 2007. The registered office address is The Belvedere 
Building, 69 Pitts Bay Road, Pembroke HM08, Bermuda.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The principal place of business of the Company is located at Unit 1101, 11th Floor, Delta House, 3 On Yiu 
Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal business activities of the Group are the design, manufacture, sale and marketing of home furniture 
products including mainly wood-based furniture, sofa, mattresses, provision of promotional services relating 
to layout design, fitting and display of products and licensing of its own brands and product designs. Further 
discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and indication of likely future 
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on 
pages 5 to 11 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss on page 43 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy, according to which the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the 
following factors when deciding whether to propose a dividend and if so, determining the dividend amount: 
(i) operating and financial results; (ii) cash flow situation; (iii) business conditions and strategies; (iv) future 
operations and earnings; (v) taxation consideration; (vi) interim dividend paid, if any; (vii) capital requirement 
and expenditure plans; (viii) interests of shareholders; (ix) statutory and regulatory restrictions; (x) any restrictions 
on payment of dividends; and (xi) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant. It is also subject to the 
approval of the shareholders, the companies ordinance (where applicable), the bye-laws of the Company as well 
as any applicable laws and regulations. The Company does not have any pre-determined payout ratio.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 
Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 
are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s paid up capital for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 23 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme by the written resolutions of the shareholders on 29 May 2009 
(the “Old Scheme”), which expired on 28 May 2019. The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the 
“New Scheme” or “Share Option Scheme”) at its annual general meeting on 17 May 2019. The purpose of the 
Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to full-time or part-time employees, directors, 
supplier, service provider and business partner of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries (the “Eligible 
Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the Group and to provide the 
Group with a more flexible means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the Eligible 
Participants. There is no share option movements nor any outstanding share options under both the Old Scheme 
and the New Scheme during the period under review.

Details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the Circular dated 11 April 2019. 
Certain principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarized as follows and in Note 22 to the 
consolidated financial statement in this annual report:

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years commencing from 17 May 2019 and will 
remain in force until 16 May 2029, after which period no further options will be offered or granted but the 
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects with respect to 
options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme. The Company may by ordinary resolution in general 
meeting or the Board may at any time terminate the Share Option Scheme without prejudice to the exercise of 
options granted prior to such termination.

The subscription price for shares of the Company (each a “Share”, and collectively, the “Shares”) in respect of 
any particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board shall determine, 
provided that such price shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price per Share on the Main Board as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the option (and if such date of offer 
of the option is not a business day, the business day immediately preceding such date of offer of the option); (ii) 
the average closing price per Share on the Main Board as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets 
for the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of 
a Share. Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine in its absolute discretion, there is no 
general requirement on the minimum period for which an option must be held before an option can be exercised 
under the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the 
issued share capital of the Company as at the New Scheme adoption date on 17 May 2019, such 10% being 
equivalent to 80,809,602 Shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the 
date of this annual report. In addition, if any options subsequently lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Group, such options will not be counted for the 
purpose of calculating the said 10% limit.
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No share options were outstanding as at 31 December 2020. There is no share options movements during the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” 
above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which 
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries has not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note 30(b) to 
the financial statements and the consolidated statement of change in equity in this annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to HK$140 million.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 82.6% of the total sales for Year 2020 
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 58.3%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest 
suppliers accounted for approximately 75.5% of the total purchase for Year 2020 and purchase from the 
Group’s largest supplier included therein amounted to 59.9%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the 
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest 
customers and suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 
of the Group were entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Sung Kai Hing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 20 April 2004)
Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung (appointed on 20 April 2004)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sun Jian (appointed on 1 July 2007)
Ms. Shao Hanqing (appointed on 29 May 2009)
Mr. Kong Hing Ki (appointed on 29 May 2009)

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the bye-laws of the Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the 
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to 
retirement at least once every three years.

By virtue of bye-law 84(1) of the bye-laws of the Company, the office of certain Directors, namely Mr. Kong 
Hing Ki and Ms. Shao Hanqing will end at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of the above Directors, 
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years 
commencing from 22 June 2018, which will continue until terminated by not less than three months’ prior notice 
in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a 
period of two years commencing from 22 June 2019.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the 
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other 
than statutory compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sun Jian, 
Ms. Shao Hanqing and Mr. Kong Hing Ki, an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules and the Company considers them to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are disclosed in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 24 to 26 in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries, parent companies or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which any Director of the Company 
had a material interest or which the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party, 
subsisted at the end of the Year 2020 or at any time during the Year 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in a business which competes or likely to compete, either directly or 
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 164(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws provides that the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be 
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, 
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, 
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided that the indemnity shall not be extended 
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or officer of 
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company 
in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the 
“SFO”) which were required to be entered into the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or 
otherwise were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such 
provisions of the SFO) and/or the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in 
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), were as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares of HK$0.01 each 

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Name of Director/ Number of share capital of
chief executive Nature of interests Shares the Company

Mr. Sung Kai Hing (note 1) Beneficial owner and 288,596,777 35.71%
 interest of a controlled corporation

Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung (note 2) Beneficial owner and 62,040,465 7.68%
 interest of a controlled corporation

Mr. Kong Hing Ki Beneficial owner 900,000 0.11%
Mr. Sun Jian Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.25%

Notes:

1. The 29,690,000 Shares were held by Mr. Sung Kai Hing and 258,906,777 Shares were held by King Right 

Holdings Limited (“King Right”), a company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Sung Kai Hing, who is also the sole 

director of King Right. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sung Kai Hing is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 

Shares in which King Right is interested.

2. The 7,200,000 Shares were held by Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung and 54,840,465 Shares were held by United Sino 

Limited (“United Sino”), a company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung, who is also the sole 

director of United Sino. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung is deemed to be interested in the same parcel 

of Shares in which United Sino is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company 
had or was deemed to have any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of 
the Company and its associate corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required 
to be entered into the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year 2020 or at the end of the Year 2020 has been/was the Company, its holding 
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or 
one of whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2020, the persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) who have 
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to 
be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in Shares of HK$0.01 each

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name Capacity Shares % Note

King Right Beneficial owner 258,906,777 32.04 1
Ms. Wong Wai King Family interests 288,596,777 35.71 1
United Sino Beneficial owner 54,840,465 6.79 2
Ms. Li Xin Family interests 62,040,465 7.68 2
Golden Sunday Limited Beneficial owner 54,840,465 6.79 3
 (“Golden Sunday”)
Mr. Chan Kwok Kin Beneficial owner and 62,040,465 7.68 3

 interest of a controlled
 corporation

Ms. Ho Fung Ying Family interests 62,040,465 7.68 3
Top Right Trading Limited Beneficial owner 51,586,293 6.38 4
 (“Top Right“)
Mr. Huang Wei Ye Beneficial owner and 58,936,293 7.29 4

 interest of a controlled
 corporation

Ms. Ye Jian Qun Family interests 58,936,293 7.29 4
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Notes:

1. King Right is a company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Sung Kai Hing, who is also the sole director of King Right. 

Ms. Wong Wai King is the spouse of Mr. Sung Kai Hing and is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares 

in which Mr. Sung Kai Hing is interested by virtue of the SFO.

2. United Sino is a company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung, who is also the sole director of 

United Sino. Ms. Li Xin is the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung and is deemed to be interested in the same parcel 

of Shares in which Mr. Cheung Kong Cheung is interested by virtue of the SFO.

3. Golden Sunday is a company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Kwok Kin. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan is 

deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which Golden Sunday is interested. Ms. Ho Fung Ying is the 

spouse of Mr. Chan Kwok Kin and is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which Mr. Chan Kwok 

Kin is interested by virtue of the SFO.

4. Top Right is a company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Wei Ye. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Wei Ye is 

deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which Top Right is interested. Ms. Ye Jian Qun is the spouse 

of Mr. Huang Wei Ye and is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which Mr. Huang is interested 

by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief 
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company 
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO 
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Events after the reporting period

There is no significant event after the reporting period.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance practices. Information 
on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report 
on pages 12 to 23 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained sufficient public float as at the date of this annual report as required under the Listing 
Rules.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 
were audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”).

Baker Tilly will hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting. Baker Tilly, being 
eligible, will offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Baker Tilly as auditors of the 
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, we would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers and 
business partners for their continuous supports. Our thanks also go to all staff members of the Group for their 
contributions and commitment to the continuous success of the Group.

By Order of the Board of
Hing Lee (HK) Holdings Limited
Sung Kai Hing
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hing Lee (HK) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and re-domiciled and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hing Lee (HK) Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to 104, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared 
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Key judgements relating to the impairment testing on property, plant and equipment 
and right-of-use assets
Refer to Notes 2(i)(ii), 11 and 12 to the audited consolidated financial statements

A t  31 Decembe r  2020,  t h e  G roup ’ s 
property, plant and equipment amounted to 
HK$113,367,000 and right-of -use assets 
amounted to HK$35,128,000.

M a n a g e m e n t  p e r f o r m e d  i m p a i r m e n t 
assessments of the Group’s property, plant 
and equipment and right-of-use assets by 
comparing the carrying values with their 
recoverable amounts based on value-in-use 
model to determine the amount of impairment 
loss that should be recognised for the year.

We ident i f ied assess ing impairments of 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets as a key audit matter because 
of the significant judgement and estimation 
required to be exercised par t icular ly in 
respect of estimating long-term growth rates, 
future revenue, future cost of sales and other 
operating expenses, the discount rates applied 
and also because of the selection of these 
assumptions could be subject to management 
bias.

Our audit procedures in this area included:

• evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used 
by management, in particular those relating to sales 
growth rates and the Group’s pre-tax discount rates.

• assessing and challenging cash flow projections 
prepared by management, including an assessment 
of the historical accuracy of management’s estimates 
and comparing historic actual resul ts to those 
budgeted so as to assess the quality of management’s 
forecasting and judgement.

• assessing the sensitivity analysis of forecasts to 
changes in assumptions, including operation growth 
beyond the 2021 forecast, long-term growth rates 
and discount rates in the model used to assess the 
appropriateness of the recoverable amounts of the 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

• assessing the adequacy of disclosures relating to 
those assumptions to which the outcome of the 
impairment tests is most sensitive, that is, those that 
have the most significant effect on the determination 
of the recoverable amounts of property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets.
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Valuation of inventories
Refer to Notes 2(k) and 14 to the audited consolidated financial statements

The Group operates in an industry in which 
developments in home furniture products may 
result in inventories becoming slow moving 
or obsolete. Its customers may modify their 
products orders or shift their orders to other 
manufacturers which would result in changes 
in product and stock lines. These factors, in 
turn, may mean that the inventories cannot be 
sold or sales prices need to be discounted and 
resulted in net realisable values of inventories 
at less than their carrying values.

The value of inventories as at 31 December 
2020  w a s  H K $11 ,344 ,000  ( 2019 : 
HK$10,739,000) which is significant for the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 
Further, a net write-down of inventories of 
HK$1,007,000 (2019: reversal of write-
down of inventories of HK$10,379,000) 
was recognised during the year ended 31 
December 2020.

We iden t i f i ed  a s s e s s i ng  va l ua t i o n  o f 
inventories as a key audit matter because of 
the magnitude of inventories and the estimation 
of the net realisable value of inventories 
i n vo l ved a h igh l eve l  o f  managemen t 
judgement. These estimations are also subject 
to uncer tainty as a resul t of change of 
competitor actions and market condition.

Our audit procedures in this area included:

• challenging the appropriateness of the Group’s 
methodology for determining its inventory provision 
in the light of our understanding of the business and 
industry knowledge, coupled with our understanding 
of the ageing and nature of its inventories, past 
usage and new product launches.

• assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the 
inventory ageing report were classified within the 
appropriate ageing category by comparing the 
individual items selected with goods receipt notes 
and/or production record.

• considering the historical accuracy of provisions 
made by the Group by examining the reversal of 
previously recorded provision.

• testing the carrying value of inventories by comparing 
the carrying value to latest sales invoices for a 
sample of items to assess whether those items were 
held at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

• assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 
in respect of the judgements used in determining the 
carrying value of inventories.
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment of trade receivables
Refer to Notes 2(i)(i), 15 and 24(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements

At 31 December 2020, the Group had gross 
trade receivables of HK$37,838,000 (2019: 
HK$39,935,000) net of loss allowance of 
HK$10,059,000 (2019: HK$2,260,000).

Loss allowance for trade receivables is based 
on management’s estimate of the lifetime 
expected credit losses to be incurred, which 
is estimated by taking into account the credit 
loss experience, ageing of overdue trade 
receivables, customers’ repayment history and 
financial position and an assessment of both 
the current and forecast general economic 
conditions, all of which involve a significant 
degree of management judgement.

We identified assessing the recoverability 
of trade receivables as a key audit matter 
because the assessment of recoverability of 
trade receivables and recognition of loss 
al lowance are inherent ly subject ive and 
require significant management judgement, 
which increases the risk of error or potential 
management bias.

Our audit procedures in this area included:

• evaluating the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness for key internal controls which govern 
credit control, debt collection and estimation of 
expected credit losses.

• assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the 
trade receivables ageing report were classified 
within the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing 
individual items in the report with the relevant sales 
invoices.

• assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss 
allowance estimates by examining the information 
used by management to form such judgements, 
including testing the accuracy of the historical 
default data, evaluating whether the historical loss 
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current 
economic conditions and forward-looking information 
and examining the actual losses recorded during 
the current financial year and assessing whether 
there was an indication of management bias when 
recognising loss allowance.

• rev iewing subsequent se t t lement records and 
challenging management regarding their reasons for 
not considering a provision against any unsettled 
past-due balances.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the 
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

– Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Choi Kwong Yu.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
Choi Kwong Yu
Practising certificate number P05071
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2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 3 203,466 300,142

Cost of sales (184,646) (268,715)  

Gross profit 18,820 31,427

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 29(b) – 19,369
Other net income/(loss) 4 2,289 (6,338)
Selling and distribution expenses (16,187) (23,824)
Administrative expenses (61,483) (75,706)
Impairment loss on goodwill 13 – (48,387)  

Loss from operations (56,561) (103,459)

Finance costs 5(a) (2,679) (2,333)  

Loss before taxation 5 (59,240) (105,792)

Income tax credit 6 35 314  

Loss for the year (59,205) (105,478)
  

HK cents HK cents

Loss per share 9   
– Basic (7.33) (13.05)

  

– Diluted (7.33) (13.05)
  

The notes on pages 49 to 104 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (59,205) (105,478)  

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   

– Exchange differences on translation of financial 
statements of overseas subsidiaries, net of nil tax 465 (2,829)

– Exchange reserve reclassified to profit or loss upon 
disposal of subsidiaries, net of nil tax 29(b) – (14,533)  

465 (17,362)  

Total comprehensive loss for the year (58,740) (122,840)
  

The notes on pages 49 to 104 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of 
financial position

as at 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 113,367 112,879
Right-of-use assets 12 35,128 24,935
Goodwill 13 – –  

148,495 137,814  

Current assets
Inventories 14 11,344 10,739
Trade and other receivables 15 64,097 118,437
Pledged bank deposits – 1,274
Cash and cash equivalents 70,415 59,749  

145,856 190,199  

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 16 100 303
Trade and other payables 17 55,935 75,887
Bank loans 18 69,824 34,545
Lease liabilities 19 3,322 5,078
Current tax payable 20(a) – 14  

129,181 115,827  

Net current assets 16,675 74,372  

Total assets less current liabilities 165,170 212,186  

Non-current liabilities  
Lease liabilities 19 12,192 468  

NET ASSETS 152,978 211,718
  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES  
Share capital 23(a) 8,081 8,081
Reserves 144,897 203,637  

TOTAL EQUITY 152,978 211,718
  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2021.

Sung Kai Hing Cheung Kong Cheung
Director Director

The notes on pages 49 to 104 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share
capital

Share
premium

Exchange
reserve

Statutory
reserve

fund
Merger
reserve

Capital
reserve

Retained
profits/

(accumulated
losses)

Total
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 23(a)) (note 23(c)(i)) (note 23(c)(ii)) (note 23(c)(iii)) (note 23(c)(iv)) (note 23(c)(v))

Balance at 1 January 2019 8,081 176,627 22,515 10,384 25,430 (24,862) 116,383 334,558

Changes in equity for 2019:
Loss for the year – – – – – – (105,478) (105,478)
Other comprehensive loss – – (17,362) – – – – (17,362)        

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (17,362) – – – (105,478) (122,840)        

Appropriation of reserve – – – 111 – – (111) –
Transfer of reserves upon disposal of subsidiaries – – – (4,954) (17,985) – 22,939 –        

Balance at 31 December 2019 8,081 176,627 5,153 5,541 7,445 (24,862) 33,733 211,718
        

        
Balance at 1 January 2020 8,081 176,627 5,153 5,541 7,445 (24,862) 33,733 211,718

        
Changes in equity for 2020:
Loss for the year – – – – – – (59,205) (59,205)
Other comprehensive income – – 465 – – – – 465        

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – 465 – – – (59,205) (58,740)        

Balance at 31 December 2020 8,081 176,627 5,618 5,541 7,445 (24,862) (25,472) 152,978
        

The notes on pages 49 to 104 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of 
cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (59,240) (105,792)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5(c) 10,908 14,281
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5(c) 6,077 7,533
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 29(b) – (19,369)
Gain on early termination of leases 4 (33) (18)
Write back of other payables 4 (720) (2,630)
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories, net 1,007 (10,379)
Bad debts written off 5(c) 2,829 8,819
Write-off of other deposits and receivables 5(c) 347 3,953
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on:    

– goodwill 13 – 48,387
– property, plant and equipment 5(c) 16,739 28,089
– trade receivables 5(c) 7,638 (93)
– other deposits and receivables 5(c) – 2,722

Realised losses/(gains) on derivative financial instruments, net 4 61 (886)
Interest expense 5(a) 2,679 2,333
Interest income 4 (292) (430)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 4 222 12,679
COVID-19 related rent concessions received 4 (13) –
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (13,093) 1,360  

Operating loss before changes in working capital (24,884) (9,441)
Decrease in inventories 416 31,249
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 52,737 (36,889)
Decrease in trade and other payables (23,156) (39,700)
Decrease in contract liabilities (203) (606)  

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 4,910 (55,387)
Interest received 292 430
Interest paid (2,102) (1,995)
Income tax refunded/(paid) 22 (19)  

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 3,122 (56,971)  
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Consolidated statement of 
cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities
Purchase of derivative financial instruments (116) (688)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits 1,357 11,888
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (23,577) (174)
Proceeds from disposal of derivative financial instruments 55 1,574
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 883 1,048
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 29(b) – 84,133  

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (21,398) 97,781  

Financing activities
Proceeds from new bank loans 25 81,498 60,016
Repayment of bank loans 25 (48,085) (57,926)
Capital element of lease rentals paid 25 (5,349) (6,531)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 25 (577) (338)  

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 27,487 (4,779)  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,211 36,031

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 59,749 23,890

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,455 (172)  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 70,415 59,749
  

The notes on pages 49 to 104 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1 COMPANY INFORMATION

Hing Lee (HK) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) on 
20 April 2004 and re-domiciled in Bermuda on 30 March 2007. The registered office of the Company is 
located at The Belvedere Building, 69 Pitts Bay Road, Pembroke HM08, Bermuda. The principal place of 
business of the Company is located at Unit 1101, 11th Floor, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, New 
Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of 
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 29(a).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise 
indicated, which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable 
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also comply with 
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting 
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any 
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent 
that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in these consolidated 
financial statements.

Other than the Amendment to HKFRS 16 “COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions” (see note 2(c)), the 
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current 
accounting period (see note 32).
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the 
historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments (see note 2(f)) are stated at their fair 
value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 
31.
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs that are first applied in the current 
accounting period of the Group:

– Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of Material

– Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

– Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial 
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Group has not 
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period 
except for the Amendment to HKFRS 16 “COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions” which is effecitve 
from annual period beginning on or after 1 June 2021 with earlier application is permitted and 
which provides a practical expedient that allows lessees not to assess whether particular rent 
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications 
and, instead, account for those rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments and applies the practical expedient to all 
qualifying COVID-19-related rent concessions granted to the Group during the year. Consequently, 
rent concessions received have been accounted for as negative variable lease payments recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurred. 
There is no impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2020.
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only 
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the 
date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions 
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in 
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is 
no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no 
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for a disposal of the entire interest in 
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained 
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount 
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the 
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)).
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the 
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on 
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business 
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see 
note 2(i)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased 
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the end of each reporting period the 
fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or hedges 
of net investment in a foreign operation, in which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss 
depends on the nature of the item being hedged.
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment 
are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives at the 
following annual rates:

Buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles 18% – 20%
Office equipment 10% – 20%
Plant and machinery 10% – 33.33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the 
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. 
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(h) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer 
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the 
economic benefits from that use.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, 
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides 
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those 
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease 
term.
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leased assets (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the 
lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After 
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated 
using the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate 
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in 
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to 
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment 
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or 
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease 
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is 
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at 
the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose 
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out in 
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical 
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in consideration as if 
it were not a lease modification.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less 
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost 
of right-of-use assets using the straight line method over the lease term.
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Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits 
and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due 
to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive), discounted at original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting is 
material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into 
account reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or 
effort. This includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs which result from all possible default events over the expected lives of these financial 
assets. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors 
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the end 
of the reporting period.

For other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the Group recognises a loss allowance 
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the 
financial asset since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The 12-month ECLs are losses that are expected to result from 
possible default events within the 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial asset assessed 
at the end of the reporting period with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In 
making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event occurs when the borrower 
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to 
actions such as realising security (if any is held). The Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.



57HING LEE (HK) HOLDINGS LIMITED   •   ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

– failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial asset’s external or internal 
rating (if available);

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 
and

– existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its 
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial assets, the assessment of a significant increase 
in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the 
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial assets are grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in the financial 
asset’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an 
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for 
all financial assets with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss 
allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to 
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when 
the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could 
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Subsequent 
recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of 
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of 
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– right-of-use assets;

– goodwill; and

– investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for 
goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication 
of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from 
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, 
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or 
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit 
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will 
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or 
value in use (if determinable).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the 
reversals are recognised.

(j) Trademarks and patents

All costs associated with the development and registration of trademarks and patents are charged 
to profit or loss in the period when such expenditure is incurred.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in 
the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories 
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any 
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.



60 HING LEE (HK) HOLDINGS LIMITED   •   ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(l) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A 
right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment 
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has unconditional 
right to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit 
losses (see note 2(i)(i)).

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having 
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for 
ECLs in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(i)(i).

(n) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before 
the Group recognises the related revenue (see note 2(u)). A contract liability would also be 
recognised if the Group has unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the 
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be 
recognised (see note 2(l)).

(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated 
at cost.

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 
for borrowing costs set out in note 2(w).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement 
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated 
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect 
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Long service payments payable on cessation of employment

The Group’s net obligation in respect of the long service payment payable on cessation of 
employment in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current 
and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method, 
discounted to its present value and reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s 
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits have already been 
vested.

(iii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with 
a corresponding increase in share option reserve within equity (see note 2(r)).

(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of 
termination benefits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme under which the Group receives services or goods 
from its directors, employees and other eligible persons as consideration for share options of the 
Company. The fair value of the services or goods received in exchange for the grant of the share 
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference 
to the fair value of the share options, which is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the share options were granted. 
Where the counterparties have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled 
to the share options, the total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the vesting 
period, taking into account the probability that the share options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any 
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited 
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for 
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting 
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options 
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture is 
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. 
The equity amount is recognised in the share option reserve until either the share option is exercised 
(when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the share option expires (when it is released 
directly to retained profits).

(s) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal 
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the 
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising 
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when 
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax 
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if 
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse 
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary 
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business 
combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in 
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that 
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, 
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation 
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
is reduced to the extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it 
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the 
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately 
from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and 
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following 
additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts 
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend 
to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or 
realise and settle simultaneously.

(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation 
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of 
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle 
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will 
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also 
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, provision of 
services and licensing of its own brands and product designs in the ordinary course of the Group’s 
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer at the 
amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes 
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the products. If 
the products are a partial fulfilment of a contract, then the amount of revenue recognised is 
an appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under the contract.

(ii) Provision of services

Service income received or receivable from customers when the service contracts, which 
relates to provision of promotional services relating to layout design, fitting and display of 
products, are entered into and it is recognised over time on a straight line basis over the term 
of service contracts.

(iii) Licensing income

Licensing income is recognised over time in accordance with the terms of the license 
agreements.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position initially 
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses 
incurred are recognised as other income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same 
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of 
an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively 
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation 
expense.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date 
is the date on which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary assets and liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of 
financial position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired 
on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange 
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to 
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal 
is recognised.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that 
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of 
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most 
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the 
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes 
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature 
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the 
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they 
share a majority of these criteria.

3 REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the design, manufacture, sale and marketing of home furniture 
products including mainly wood-based furniture, sofa and mattresses, provision of promotional services 
relating to layout design, fitting and display of products and licensing of its own brands and product 
designs.

Revenue within the scope of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” comprises:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sale of goods 189,201 295,542
Provision of services 12,736 –
Licensing income 1,529 4,600  

203,466 300,142
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4 OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 292 430
COVID-19 related rent concessions received 13 –
Government grants 1,314 1,784
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net (222) (12,679)
Realised (losses)/gains on derivative financial instruments, net (61) 886
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables – 93
Write back of other payables 720 2,630
Gain on early termination of leases 33 18
Others 200 500  

2,289 (6,338)
  

Government grants include mainly funds and subsidies from local government authorities for the Group’s 
development and business activities.

In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support of HK$216,000 from the Employment Support 
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Government from Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees 
who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make 
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the approved list 
of employees.

5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Finance costs

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans 2,102 1,995
Interest on lease liabilities 577 338  

2,679 2,333
  



70 HING LEE (HK) HOLDINGS LIMITED   •   ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(b) Staff costs

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Directors’ remuneration (note 7) 2,240 2,240
Salaries, wages and other benefits 15,662 32,425
Retirement scheme contributions 649 2,694
Termination benefits 4,616 4,765  

23,167 42,124
  

(c) Other items

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration 750 850
Bad debts written off 2,829 8,819
Cost of inventories sold# (note 14(b)) 184,646 268,715
Depreciation of:

– property, plant and equipment 10,908 14,281
– right-of-use assets 6,077 7,533

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net (7,623) 271
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment loss) on:

– trade receivables 7,638 (93)
– property, plant and equipment 16,739 28,089
– other deposits and receivables – 2,722

Write-off of other deposits and receivables 347 3,953
  

# Cost of inventories sold includes HK$17,039,000 (2019: HK$30,611,000) relating to staff costs and 

depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above 

or in note 5(b) for each of these types of expenses.
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

PRC Enterprise Income Tax
– Current year provision 3 81
– Prior years over-provision (38) (395)  

Income tax credit (35) (314)
  

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations, the Group is not subject to income tax in Bermuda 
and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made (2019: HK$Nil) as the Company and 
subsidiaries incorporated or domiciled in Hong Kong have either no assessable profits or sustained 
tax losses for taxation purposes during the year.

The subsidiaries incorporated in The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are subject to the PRC 
Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) for the year.

(b) Reconciliation between tax credit and accounting loss at applicable tax rate:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (59,240) (105,792)
  

Notional tax on loss before taxation (9,774) (17,455)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 312 10,879
Tax effect of non-taxable income (338) (4,044)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (3,368) (6,946)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary differences 3,976 10,212
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not recognised previously (626) (274)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 9,842 7,755
Prior years over-provision (38) (395)
Others (21) (46)  

Actual tax credit (35) (314)
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7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation and the Listing 
Rules are as follows:

Directors’ fee

Salaries, allowances,
benefits in kind and 

discretionary bonuses
Retirement scheme 

contributions Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Sung Kai Hing (Chairman) 1,002 1,002 – – 18 18 1,020 1,020
Cheung Kong Cheung 1,002 1,002 – – 18 18 1,020 1,020

Independent non-executive 
directors
Sun Jian 100 100 – – – – 100 100
Shao Hanqing – – – – – – – –
Kong Hing Ki 100 100 – – – – 100 100        

2,204 2,204 – – 36 36 2,240 2,240
        

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals, as set out 
in note 8, as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as compensation for loss of office during 
the year (2019: HK$Nil). In addition, save as for the independent non-executive director, Ms. Shao 
Hanqing, neither the Chairman nor any of the directors waived any emoluments during the years ended 
2020 and 2019.
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8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2019: two) are directors whose emoluments 
are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2019: three) 
individuals are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,220 1,610
Discretionary bonuses 64 64
Retirement scheme contributions 31 33  

1,315 1,707
  

The emoluments of the three (2019: three) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following 
bands:

2020 2019
Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 3
  

9 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the 
Company of HK$59,205,000 (2019: HK$105,478,000) and the weighted average number of 
808,096,025 (2019: 808,096,025) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

As the Company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares during the years ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019, basic and diluted loss per share are the same.

10 SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Operating segment information

The Group is principally engaged in furniture business, which includes the design, manufacture and 
sale of home furniture products, provision of promotional services relating to layout design, fitting 
and display of products and licensing of its own brands and product designs. All of the Group’s 
products and services are of a similar nature and subject to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the 
Group’s operating activities are attributable to one single operating segment.
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10 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue 
from external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on the location at 
which the services were provided or the goods and services delivered. The geographical location 
of the specified non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets, in the case of 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

2020 2019
Revenue 

from 
external 

customers

Specified 
non-current 

assets

Revenue 
from 

external 
customers

Specified 
non-current 

assets
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Asia (excluding the PRC) 149,318 465 128,121 962
Europe 14,506 – 13,490 –
PRC 21,886 148,030 61,512 136,852
The United States 16,530 – 94,848 –
Others 1,226 – 2,171 –    

203,466 148,495 300,142 137,814
    

Asia mainly covers Japan, Middle East and Southeast Asia; Europe mainly covers France and 
Germany; and others mainly cover Canada, South America and Australia.

(c) Major customers

Revenue from the major customers that accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue are 
set out below:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 118,564 78,369
Customer B N/A# 61,942
Customer C N/A# 31,257

  

# The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the total revenue.
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Motor 

vehicles
Office 

equipment
Plant and 

machinery Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2019 227,235 2,715 3,817 25,220 64,627 323,614
Exchange realignment (2,695) (50) (33) (510) (1,115) (4,403)
Additions – 27,678 – 76 98 27,852
Disposal of subsidiaries (126,001) (954) (2,401) (2,570) (9,927) (141,853)
Disposals – – (452) (10,121) (27,177) (37,750)      

At 31 December 2019 98,539 29,389 931 12,095 26,506 167,460      

At 1 January 2020 98,539 29,389 931 12,095 26,506 167,460
Exchange realignment 6,336 1,917 59 800 1,582 10,694
Additions – 23,172 168 25 212 23,577
Disposals – – (153) (172) (4,750) (5,075)
Write off – (1,751) – – – (1,751)      

At 31 December 2020 104,875 52,727 1,005 12,748 23,550 194,905      

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment

At 1 January 2019 59,094 2,202 3,417 17,686 42,895 125,294
Exchange realignment (1,304) (39) (25) (305) (758) (2,431)
Charge for the year 3,109 5,576 63 2,004 3,529 14,281
Disposal of subsidiaries (70,777) (954) (2,401) (2,570) (9,927) (86,629)
Impairment loss 28,089 – – – – 28,089
Written back on disposals – – (407) (8,286) (15,330) (24,023)      

At 31 December 2019 18,211 6,785 647 8,529 20,409 54,581      

At 1 January 2020 18,211 6,785 647 8,529 20,409 54,581
Exchange realignment 1,273 1,764 47 638 1,309 5,031
Charge for the year 1,807 6,548 96 1,217 1,240 10,908
Impairment loss – 16,739 – – – 16,739
Written back on disposals – – (80) (157) (3,733) (3,970)
Write off – (1,751) – – – (1,751)      

At 31 December 2020 21,291 30,085 710 10,227 19,225 81,538      

Net book value

At 31 December 2020 83,584 22,642 295 2,521 4,325 113,367
      

At 31 December 2019 80,328 22,604 284 3,566 6,097 112,879
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group’s buildings are held for industrial use in the PRC under medium-term leases.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had pledged its buildings with carrying amount of HK$83,584,000 
(2019: HK$17,692,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (see note 18).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the management reviewed the carrying value of the Group’s 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) identified as panel furniture business in the PRC and assessed that the 
carrying value of HK$146,385,000 exceeded its recoverable amount of HK$129,646,000 in light 
of the current market conditions. Accordingly, provision for impairment of HK$16,739,000 has been 
recognised against the leasehold improvements.

The recoverable amount of the CGU under panel furniture business in the PRC was determined based 
on value in use calculations. For impairment test purpose, the calculations used the pre-tax cash flow 
projections for the relevant operations based upon financial budgets and forecasts approved by the 
management covering the five-year period and applying the discount rate of 7%.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the management assessed the recoverable amount of certain 
idle buildings with reference to a valuation carried out by an independent professional valuer, LCH (Asia-
Pacific) Surveyors Limited. The valuation was arrived at using the depreciated replacement cost approach 
due to the restriction in transferability of the relevant buildings. An impairment of HK$28,089,000 was 
then made to these idle buildings, which were disposed of by the Group through disposal of subsidiaries 
on 23 August 2019 (see note 29(b)).
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12 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Properties
Land use

rights Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2019 6,648 38,748 45,396
Exchange realignment (115) (519) (634)
Additions 7,528 – 7,528
Disposal of subsidiaries – (18,226) (18,226)
Adjustment as a result of early termination of leases (5,112) – (5,112)   

At 31 December 2019 8,949 20,003 28,952   

At 1 January 2020 8,949 20,003 28,952
Exchange realignment 484 1,287 1,771
Additions 16,107 – 16,107
Adjustment as a result of early termination of leases (8,012) – (8,012)   

At 31 December 2020 17,528 21,290 38,818   

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2019 – – –
Exchange realignment (55) (14) (69)
Charge for the year 6,760 773 7,533
Disposal of subsidiaries – (240) (240)
Adjustment as a result of early termination of leases (3,207) – (3,207)   

At 31 December 2019 3,498 519 4,017   

At 1 January 2020 3,498 519 4,017
Exchange realignment 477 63 540
Charge for the year 5,553 524 6,077
Adjustment as a result of early termination of leases (6,944) – (6,944)   

At 31 December 2020 2,584 1,106 3,690   

Net book value

At 31 December 2020 14,944 20,184 35,128
   

At 31 December 2019 5,451 19,484 24,935
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12 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as its factory complex and office premises 
through tenancy agreements. The leases run for a period of 3 to 5 years (2019: 2 to 3 years), at the end 
of which period all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

The land use rights relate to leasehold land for industrial use in the PRC and are not allowed to be 
transferred or leased pursuant to the contracts for grant of the land use rights. They have a lease term of 
50 years, commencing from 29 June 2007 and expiring on 28 June 2057.

13 GOODWILL

HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 49,468
Exchange realignment (1,081)
Impairment (48,387) 

At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 –
 

Impairment tests for cash-generating unit containing goodwill

Goodwill was allocated to the Group’s CGU identified as upholstered furniture business in the PRC.

The recoverable amount of the CGU under upholstered furniture business in the PRC was determined based on 
value in use calculation. This calculation used cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 
the management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period were then extrapolated 
using the estimate rates stated below.

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:

2019

Gross margin 9%
Growth rate 2%
Discount rate 6%

In prior year, the management determined the budgeted gross margin and growth rate based on past 
performance and its expectation for market development. The growth rate did not exceed the long-term 
average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates. The discount rate used was pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU.

The impairment testing resulted in an impairment of HK$48,387,000 recognised in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019. The impairment arose in view of the deterioration 
in sales level and operating results of the CGU in that year and loss of a major customer.
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14 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 779 3,238
Work in progress 4,462 4,263
Finished goods 5,874 1,043
Goods in transit 229 2,195  

11,344 10,739
  

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss is 
as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 183,639 279,094
Write-down of inventories 1,160 –
Reversal of write-down of inventories (153) (10,379)  

184,646 268,715
  

During the year, certain aged inventories were sold and, as a result, a reversal of write-down of 
inventories of HK$153,000 (2019: HK$10,379,000) has been recognised and included in cost 
of inventories sold.
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 37,838 39,935
Less: loss allowance (note 24(a)) (10,059) (2,260)  

27,779 37,675  

Deposits paid for purchase of property, plant and equipment 46 2,362
Deposits paid to suppliers 29,148 59,189
Value added tax recoverable 2,976 2,323
Other deposits, prepayments and receivables 4,148 16,888  

36,318 80,762  

64,097 118,437
  

The amount of deposits and prepayments expected to be recovered or recognised as expense after more 
than one year is HK$987,000 (2019: HK$359,000). All of the other trade and other receivables are 
expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Included in the other deposits, prepayments and receivables were amounts due from independent business 
partners of HK$1,685,000 (2019: HK$12,179,000), which are unsecured, interest free and repayable 
on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date 
(or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 3 months 27,779 33,243
3 to 6 months – 1,489
6 to 9 months – 2,401
9 months to 1 year – 542  

27,779 37,675
  

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing. Further details on the 
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 24(a).
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16 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

These represent billings in advance of performance under made-to-order manufacturing arrangements.

When the Group receives a deposit before the manufacturing activity commences, this will give rise to 
contract liabilities at the start of a contract until the revenue recognised on the contracts exceeds the 
amount of the deposits. The Group typically receives a certain deposit in advance, which is negotiated on 
case by case basis with customers, on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

Movements in contract liabilities:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 303 1,124
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising  

revenue during the year that was included in the contract  
liabilities at the beginning of the year (203) (612)

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of disposal of subsidiaries – (215)
Exchange realignment – 6  

Balance at 31 December 100 303
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17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade creditors and bills payable 46,412 55,125  

Accrued charges 4,278 6,879
Trade deposits received 3,358 6,096
Other payables 1,887 7,787  

9,523 20,762  

55,935 75,887
  

All trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable, based on 
the invoice date, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 3 months 38,179 35,731
3 months to 1 year 8,233 15,721
Over 1 year – 3,673  

46,412 55,125
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18 BANK LOANS

The bank loans are repayable within 1 year or on demand (including those with repayable on demand 
clause) and the maturity of bank loans, based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 
agreements, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 47,754 33,152
After 1 year but within 2 years 1,426 1,393
After 2 years but within 5 years 20,644 –  

69,824 34,545
  

Details on the interest rate profile of the Group are set out in note 24(c)(i).

At 31 December 2020, bank loans were secured by pledge of buildings (see note 11), personal 
guarantee provided by Mr. Chan Kwok Kin and Mr. Huang Wei Ye in which both are the senior 
management of the Group, and corporate guarantees from the Company and a subsidiary.

At 31 December 2019, bank loans were secured by pledged bank deposits, pledge of buildings (see 
note 11) and corporate guarantees from the Company.

19 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 3,322 5,078
After 1 year but within 2 years 3,026 468
After 2 years but within 5 years 9,166 –  

15,514 5,546
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20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position

Current tax payable represents:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

PRC Enterprise Income Tax payable – 14
  

(b) Deferred taxation

At 31 December 2020, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative 
tax losses of HK$66,467,000 (2019: HK$27,412,000) as it is not probable that future taxable 
profits against which the assets can be utilised will be available in relevant tax jurisdiction and 
entity. Of the total tax losses, HK$36,542,000 (2019: HK$1,000) will expire within 5 years and 
the remaining tax losses of HK$29,925,000 (2019: HK$27,411,000) have no expiry date under 
the current tax legislation.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had unrecognised deferred tax liabilities of HK$Nil (2019: 
HK$2,237,000) in respect of tax that would be payable on the unremitted profits of HK$Nil (2019: 
HK$44,734,000) of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries derived as the directors of the Company are in 
a position to control the dividend policies of the PRC subsidiaries and no distribution of such profits 
is expected to be declared from the PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2020, the Group does not have any other material temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements, and therefore, no provision for deferred tax has been made (2019: HK$Nil).

21 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined 
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group 
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. 
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in state-
managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC government. The relevant PRC subsidiaries 
are required to contribute a specified percentage of their payroll costs to the relevant schemes to fund the 
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement schemes is to pay the ongoing 
contributions required by the schemes. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.
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22 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 17 May 2019, the 
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option 
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant share options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards 
for their contribution to the growth of the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to 
reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the eligible participants. The Share Option 
Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 17 May 2019.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at their discretion grant share options to full-time or part-
time employees, directors (including executive, non-executive or independent non-executive) and any 
suppliers, service providers and business partners of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee within 14 days from the date of the 
offer, upon payment of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant. The maximum number of shares which 
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the 
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the 
issued share capital of the Company from time to time. In addition, the total number of shares which may 
be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company 
as at 17 May 2019, being the scheme mandate limit. The Board may seek approval by the shareholders 
of the Company in general meeting to renew the scheme mandate limit, provided that the total number 
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share Option 
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company in these circumstances must not exceed 10% 
of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of approval of the renewed limit.

Share options previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes 
of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the Share Option 
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company and exercised share options) will not be 
counted for the purpose of calculating the renewed limit. The Board may seek separate shareholders’ 
approval in general meeting to grant share options beyond the scheme mandate limit or the renewed 
limit provided that the share options in excess of the scheme mandate limit or the renewed limit are 
granted only to the participants specifically identified by the Company before such approval is sought. 
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to each 
participant (including both exercised and outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme) in 
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company unless approved by 
the shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

No share options under the Share Option Scheme were granted or exercised during the year ended 31 
December 2020 and there were no outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 
December 2020.
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23 SHARE CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

(a) Share capital

2020 2019  
Number of 

ordinary 
shares of Amount

Number of 
ordinary 

shares of Amount
HK$0.01 each HK$’000 HK$0.01 each HK$’000

Authorised:
At 31 December 3,000,000,000 30,000 3,000,000,000 30,000

    

Issued and fully paid:
At 31 December 808,096,025 8,081 808,096,025 8,081

    

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 
are entitled to one vote per share at the meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with 
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(b) Dividends

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2020 (2019: HK$Nil).
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23 SHARE CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by section 40 of the Bermuda 
Companies Act 1981.

(ii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong which are dealt with in 
accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 2(v).

(iii) Statutory reserve fund

Subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer 10% of the net profits, as determined in 
accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to statutory reserve fund until 
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer of this fund must be 
made before distribution of dividends to equity holders.

The statutory reserve fund can be used to make good of previous years’ losses, if any, and 
may be converted into capital provided that the balance of the general reserve fund after 
such conversion is not less than 25% of their registered capital.

(iv) Merger reserve

The Group’s merger reserve represents the difference between the aggregate net assets of the 
subsidiaries acquired by the Group and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued 
under the 2004 Reorganisation.

(v) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess of the fair value of consideration paid for 
acquisition of additional interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary over the decrease in the 
carrying amount of the non-controlling interest.
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23 SHARE CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity 
shareholders of the Company was HK$140,167,000 (2019: HK$271,651,000), being the 
aggregate of the share premium and accumulated losses/retained profits of the Company.

(e) Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through maintaining healthy capital ratio.

The capital structure of the Group consists of secured bank loans and lease liabilities net of net 
debt, which includes cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity shareholders of 
the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses/retained profits as 
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The directors review the capital structure on an annual basis. As a part of this review, management 
considers the cost of capital, the changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of 
each class of capital. The directors will balance the Group’s overall capital structure through the 
payment of dividends and new share issues.

The Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged during the year.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
business. The Group does not have any written risk management policies and guidelines. The directors 
monitor the financial risk management of the Group and take measures as considered necessary from time 
to time to minimise such financial risks.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and 
other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents 
and pledged bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are banks for which the Group 
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant 
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual 
customers. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as 69% 
(2019: 33%) and 95% (2019: 66%) of total trade receivables due from the largest customer and 
five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. 
These take into account the customer’s past payment history, financial position and other factors. 
Trade receivables are due within 30 days to 90 days (2019: 30 days to 90 days) from the date 
of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, 
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does 
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance 
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for 
trade receivables:

2020 

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current (not past due) 6.55% 29,725 (1,946) 27,779
Less than 3 months past due N/A – – –
3 to 6 months past due N/A – – –
6 months to 1 year past due N/A – – –
More than 1 year past due 100% 8,113 (8,113) –   

37,838 (10,059) 27,779
   

2019 

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying
 amount

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current (not past due) 4.03% 34,639 (1,396) 33,243
Less than 3 months past due 5.26% 1,572 (83) 1,489
3 to 6 months past due 10.59% 2,685 (284) 2,401
6 months to 1 year past due 18.60% 666 (124) 542
More than 1 year past due 100.00% 373 (373) –   

39,935 (2,260) 37,675
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience in current year. These rates are adjusted to 
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has 
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected 
lives of the receivables.

Movement in loss allowance in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2,260 3,014
Exchange realignment 400 (32)
Impairment loss recognised/(reversal of impairment loss) 7,638 (93)
Disposal of subsidiaries – (453)
Uncollectible amounts written off (239) (176)  

Balance at 31 December 10,059 2,260
  

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending 
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of 
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer 
term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of 
the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including 
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end 
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Specifically, for bank loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can be exercised 
at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in 
which the entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional 
rights to call the loans with immediate effect.

2020 2019  
Total Within More than More than Total Within More than More than

contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted or on less than less than Carrying undiscounted or on less than less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Trade and other payables 52,577 52,577 52,577 – – 69,791 69,791 69,791 – –
Bank loans 69,824 77,115 77,115 – – 34,545 35,567 35,567 – –
Lease liabilities 15,514 17,697 4,143 3,663 9,891 5,546 5,700 5,221 479 –          

137,915 147,389 133,835 3,663 9,891 109,882 111,058 110,579 479 –
          

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand 
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. Taking into account 
the financial position of the Group, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the 
bank will exercise its discretion to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that such 
bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 
agreements.

2020 2019  
Total Within More than More than Total Within More than More than

contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted or on less than less than Carrying undiscounted or on less than less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Trade and other payables 52,577 52,577 52,577 – – 69,791 69,791 69,791 – –
Bank loans 69,824 77,115 50,233 2,837 24,045 34,545 35,567 34,137 1,430 –
Lease liabilities 15,514 17,697 4,143 3,663 9,891 5,546 5,700 5,221 479 –          

137,915 147,389 106,953 6,500 33,936 109,882 111,058 109,149 1,909 –
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk where the value of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

Interest-earning financial assets include mainly deposits with banks and cash at banks (“bank 
deposits”). Interest-bearing financial liabilities include bank loans and lease liabilities. The Group 
currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy and will consider entering into interest rate 
hedging should the need arise. The Group ensures that it borrows at competitive interest rates under 
favourable terms and conditions.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-earning financial 
assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

2020 2019  
Effective
interest

rate HK$’000

Effective
interest

rate HK$’000

Fixed rate deposits/(liabilities):
Bank deposits 1.80% 5,700 2.70% 11,931
Bank loans 6.13% (34,179) N/A –
Lease liabilities 5.58% - 

5.89% (15,514) 5.58% (5,546)  

Net fixed rate (liabilities)/
deposits (43,993) 6,385  

Variable rate 
deposits/(liabilities):
Bank deposits 0.33% 28,828 0.42% 27,953
Bank loans 5.65% (35,645) 5.58% (34,545)  

Net variable rate liabilities (6,817) (6,592)  

Net exposure (50,810) (207)
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have no significant 
impact on the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses/retained profits for the years.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest 
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure 
to interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis point 
increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change 
in interest rates over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis 
is performed on the same basis for 2019.

(d) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which the 
transaction relates. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi 
and United States dollars. Hence, the Group’s foreign currency risk is considered to be minimal 
by the directors of the Company. The Group does not hold or issue material derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, but the 
management continuously monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to foreign 
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the operations to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts 
of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the end of the 
reporting period.

2020 2019
Denominated in Denominated in  

Hong 
Kong 

dollars Renminbi

United 
States 

dollars

Hong 
Kong 

dollars Renminbi

United 
States 

dollars
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other receivables – 5,271 6,575 – – 20,115
Cash and cash equivalents 581 10,781 17,642 15,177 12,716 2,520
Trade and other payables – – (1,501) – – (2,199)      

Net exposure arising from  
recognised assets 581 16,052 22,716 15,177 12,716 20,436

      

Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to 
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, it is estimated that the effect on the Group’s loss after tax and 
accumulated losses/retained profits for the years would not be material for a general depreciation 
or appreciation of 5% on Hong Kong dollars against Renminbi with all other variables held 
constant.

(e) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost were 
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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25 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, 
or future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

Bank Lease  
loans liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 18) (note 19)  

At 1 January 2019 32,455 6,648 39,103   

Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid – (6,531) (6,531)
Interest element of lease rentals paid – (338) (338)
Proceeds from new bank loans 60,016 – 60,016
Repayment of bank loans (57,926) – (57,926)
Interest on bank loans (1,995) – (1,995)   

Total changes from financing cash flows 95 (6,869) (6,774)   

Exchange realignment – (176) (176)   

Other changes
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases – 7,528 7,528
Adjustment as a result of early termination of leases – (1,923) (1,923)
Finance costs (note 5(a)) 1,995 338 2,333   

Total other changes 1,995 5,943 7,938   

At 31 December 2019 34,545 5,546 40,091   

At 1 January 2020 34,545 5,546 40,091

Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid – (5,349) (5,349)
Interest element of lease rentals paid – (577) (577)
Proceeds from new bank loans 81,498 – 81,498
Repayment of bank loans (48,085) – (48,085)
Interest on bank loans (2,102) – (2,102)   

Total changes from financing cash flows 31,311 (5,926) 25,385   

Exchange realignment 1,866 324 2,190   

Other changes
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases – 16,107 16,107
Adjustment as a result of early termination of leases – (1,101) (1,101)
COVID-19 related rent concessions received (note 4) – (13) (13)
Finance costs (note 5(a)) 2,102 577 2,679   

Total other changes 2,102 15,570 17,672   

At 31 December 2020 69,824 15,514 85,338
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26 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2020 not provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted for purchase of property, plant and equipment 145 1,774
  

27 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2020, the Company had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees given for banking 
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries to the extent of HK$95,053,000 (2019: HK$89,000,000). These 
facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$29,704,000 (2019: HK$5,520,000) as at 31 December 
2020.

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s 
directors as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as 
follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,488 3,878
Post-employment benefits 67 69  

3,555 3,947
  

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any 
material related party transactions during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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29 SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Name of company

Place of
incorporation
and
registration

Particulars of
issued and
paid-up
share capital/
registered
capital

Proportion of Group’s
ownership interest

Principal
activities

2020 2019

Directly held by the Company

Great Ample Holdings Limited BVI 22,001 shares of  
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held by the Company

Springrich Investments Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Success Profit International Limited BVI 12,001 shares of  
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

Hing Lee Furniture Company Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 100% 100% Trading of furniture

Sharp Motion Worldwide Limited BVI 4 shares of US$1 each 100% 100% Trademark holding/
licensing

Hong Kong Hing Lee Furniture Group 
Limited

BVI 1 share of US$1 100% 100% Dormant

Hing Lee Furniture Group Limited Hong Kong 3 shares (HK$3) 100% 100% Trading of furniture 
and provision of 
management services

Hander International Limited Hong Kong 100 shares (HK$100) 100% 100% Investment holding
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Name of company

Place of
incorporation
and
registration

Particulars of
issued and
paid-up
share capital/
registered
capital

Proportion of Group’s
ownership interest

Principal
activities

2020 2019

Hanmix Limited Hong Kong 1 share (HK$1) 100% 100% Investment holding

Astromax Investment Limited BVI 100 shares of  
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

City Leading Limited Hong Kong 1 share (HK$1) 100% 100% Trading of sofa

深圳興利家具有限公司  
(Shenzhen Xingli Furniture  
Company Limited)*

PRC RMB73,500,000 100% 100% Design, manufacture, 
sale and marketing 
of home furniture, 
provision of 
promotional services 
and trademark 
holding/ licensing

深圳歐羅家具有限公司  
(Shenzhen Ouluo Furniture  
Company Limited)*

PRC RMB8,500,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 
sofa

深圳興利澳瑪家具有限公司 
(Shenzhen Xingli Aoma Furniture 
Company Limited)*

PRC Registered: 
RMB1,000,000 

Paid up: RMB150,000

100% 100% Not yet commenced 
business

* These companies are limited liability wholly-owned foreign enterprises established in the PRC and their 

official names are in Chinese. The English company names are for reference only.

29 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 and 2019: (continued)
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29 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries

On 23 August 2019, the Group disposed of the entire equity interest in Glory Skill Investments 
Limited and its subsidiaries (together “GS Group”) to an independent third party and the outstanding 
balance of HK$83,815,000 owed by GS Group to the Group for a total consideration of 
HK$84,815,000.

The assets and liabilities of GS Group at date of disposal:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 55,224
Right-of-use assets 17,986
Trade and other receivables 6,302
Cash and cash equivalents 338
Contract liabilities (215)
Amount due to the Group (83,815) 

Net liabilities (4,180)
 

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:

HK$’000

Cash consideration 84,815
Less: settlement of amount due to the Group (83,815)

disposal related costs (344) 

656
Net liabilities disposed of 4,180 

4,836
Exchange reserve in respect of GS Group reclassified  

from equity to profit or loss upon disposal 14,533 

Gain on disposal 19,369
 

Net cash flow on disposal of subsidiaries:

HK$’000

Consideration settled in cash 84,815
Disposal related costs (344)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (338) 

Net cash inflow 84,133
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30 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary 146,193 276,254
Right-of-use assets 447 934  

146,640 277,188  

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,675 3,978
Other receivables 166 171
Cash and cash equivalents 915 348  

2,756 4,497  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 680 997
Lease liabilities 468 488  

1,148 1,485  

Net current assets 1,608 3,012  

Total assets less current liabilities 148,248 280,200  

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 468  

NET ASSETS 148,248 279,732
  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 8,081 8,081
Reserves 140,167 271,651  

TOTAL EQUITY 148,248 279,732
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30 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Details of changes in the Company’s reserves during the year:

Share 
premium

Retained 
profits/

(accumulated 
losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 23(c)(i))  

Balance at 1 January 2019 176,627 96,431 273,058

Changes in equity for 2019:
Loss and total comprehensive  

loss for the year – (1,407) (1,407)   

Balance at 31 December 2019 
and at 1 January 2020 176,627 95,024 271,651

Changes in equity for 2020:
Loss and total comprehensive  

loss for the year – (131,484) (131,484)   

Balance at 31 December 2020 176,627 (36,460) 140,167
   

31 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.
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31 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

If the circumstances indicate that the carrying values of these assets may not be recoverable, the 
assets may be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be recognised in accordance 
with HKAS 36 Impairment of assets. Under HKAS 36, these assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not 
be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and the value 
in use. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset are discounted 
to their present value, which requires significant judgement relating to level of sales volume, 
selling prices and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information 
in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including 
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of sales volume, 
selling prices and amount of operating costs. However, actual sales volumes, selling prices and 
operating costs may be different from assumptions which may require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the assets affected.

(ii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment. Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful 
lives are different to previously estimated, or will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(iii) Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 
written down to net realisable value when there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories 
may not be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recovered if those inventories are 
damaged, if they have become wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined. 
The cost of inventories may not also be recoverable if the estimated costs to be incurred to make the 
sales have increased. The amount written off to profit or loss is the difference between the carrying 
value and net realisable value of the inventories. In determining whether the cost of inventories can 
be recoverable, significant judgement is required. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, 
among other factors, the duration and extent by all means to which the amount will be recovered.
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31 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(iv) Loss allowances for trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This 
requires the use of estimates and significant judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment 
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the end of the reporting period. 
Where the estimation is different from the previous estimate, such difference will affect the carrying 
amounts of trade and other receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period in which such 
estimate is changed.

(v) Income tax provision

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain 
transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions, and tax provisions are 
made accordingly. The tax treatment of transactions is assessed periodically to include the effect of 
all changes in tax legislation and practices.

32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of 
amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, which are not yet effective for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 and which have not been adopted in these consolidated financial 
statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the Group:

Effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:  

Proceeds before Intended Use
1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of  
Fulfilling a Contract

1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these developments is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them will 
not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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